

International Trade Canada Trade Commissioner Service Service des délégués commerciaux Canada Commerce international Canada



**Français** Home

**Contact Us** Help Search The Department Canada Site

Search









March 2005

## Virtual Trade Commissioner

Personalized Web pages for Canadian clients

#### **New User**

- Take a Tour
- Register Now

#### **Registered User** Email

Password

GO!

Forgot your password?

# Books and Publishing Sector Profile(1) - Argentina



#### **Canadian Embassy in Argentina**

Tagle 2828

C1425EH Buenos Aires, Argentina

Contact: Barbara Brito, Trade Commissioner

Tel.: (54-11) 4808-1000 Fax: (54-11) 4808-1111

E-mail: barbara.brito@international.gc.ca Internet: http://www.buenosaires.gc.ca

#### MARKET OVERVIEW

#### **Books**

Argentina has always had a vast and important book publishing industry, with a high recognition among consumers of books (and magazines and newspapers). The quality of Argentine book publishing has been appreciated both domestically and in other Latin American and Spanish markets. During the 1950s, Argentina produced and sold an annual average of 30 million volumes and reached a peak of 50 million in the 1970s. This production was dropped to only 17 million volumes in the 1980s. However, the book publishing rebounded to reach historical production levels during the next decade with an average of 55 million volumes and record levels of 71.9 million in 1999 and 74.3 million in 2000. The economic crisis of 2001/2--the peso devaluation and public debt default--had a severe impact on the sector: production dropped to 33.7 million volumes.

Since 2003, there has been steady growth in sales. Publishing numbers are back to 1990 levels, showing the potential of the recovery. Indeed, the sector is gaining strength as publishers see the new competitive advantages in the lower costs of editing, translation and printing in Argentina. In 2004, sales are likely to increase 50% over last year. Argentine, Latin American and Spanish authors, as well as translators of international writers, choose Argentinian publishers. In fact, Argentina is now an important platform from which to develop opportunities in other Latin

#### American markets.

Nevertheless, high prices in pesos after devaluation give little possibilities to increase sales in foreign books in the domestic market (except in specific niches that are detailed below). Companies are reducing the number of volumes by title in order to cope with reduced sales in the market: nowadays, the number of volumes printed per title is 2500, while during the 1990s, it was 4200-5000 volumes.

**Table 1. Argentine Book Production, 1994-2003** 

Year	No. of Titles	No. of Volumes	No. of Volumes, per Title	% of New Releases, per Title	Variation of Volume, per Title		
1994 1995 1996 1997 1998	9 640 8 733 9 915 11 875 12 830	48 089 996 43 965 453 42 296 878 53 289 819 54 490 652	4 989 5 034 4 266 4 488 4 247	81.4 86.1 86.6 87.4 89.9	0.9 -15.3 5.2 -5.4		
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003	14 351 13 172 13 428 9 964 14 375	71 914 010 74 294 135 59 008 384 33 708 268 38 096 586	5 011 5 640 4 394 3 275 2 507	84.5 89.0 89.0 93.0 90.0	18.0% 12.6% -22.1% -25.5% 11.5%		
Source: Argentine Chamber of Books							

The value of book sales during the 1990s oscillated between \$500 million. Afterward, sales dropped to \$285 million in 2002 but grew in 2003 to \$320 million.

After devaluation, local printing has been increased because of the lower costs. In 2001, 81.3% of books sold in Argentina were printed in Argentina and 19% abroad, but in 2003, 96% of books sold were printed locally.

Table 2. Book Volumes Printed in Argentina and Abroad, 2002-2003

Year	Argentina	Abroad	Total	% of Volumes Printed In Argentina Abroad				
2002 2003 2004	47 657 531 31 515 068 36 387 950	11 153 996 2 193 200 1 527 291		81.03 93.49 95.97	18.97 6.51 4.03			
Source: Argentina Chamber of Books								

The recovery in 2003 can be explained by two influences. The first is the government campaigns promoting literacy and the government's requirement to buy books in order to modernize schools and public libraries. The second is the importance of the demand of books by foreign tourists, especially in the City of Buenos Aires. The most sought-after themes were Latin American literature, law and education.

Lower editing costs are creating strong competition in the export of books by famous authors, especially in the case of multinational companies with their international links. About 150 companies (including international groups and small and medium-sized enterprises [SMEs]) export Argentine narrative, scientific books and those books written by foreign authors but produced in Argentina because of low costs.

The big players in the book industry are publishing locally with the intent to export. Norma, for example, is producing in Argentina titles that were published previously in Colombia and are now exported to a wider Latin American market. Grupo Editorial Planeta published 300 000 paperback copies of *Lord of the Rings* in Argentina, for

export to Latin American countries. Also for export, Alfaguara published in Argentina 40 000 copies of the last book by Spanish writer Arturo Perez Reverte. Furthermore, well-known authors such as Gabriel Garcia Marquez and Isabel Allende are also published in Argentine houses.

Canadian publishers should hire a local literary agent to facilitate sales and enlist legal representation when selling foreign rights.

## **Newspapers and Magazines**

There are 274 national and local newspapers, the majority being SMEs. Nevertheless, the market share is concentrated in some few actors: Clarín newspaper has 57% of sales and La Nación newspaper has the 15% of sales. Argentina has a vast market for newspapers and magazines, but sales declined from 2 million units in 1995 to 1 million units in 2002. In 2003, the value of this sector was \$530 million, comprising \$230 million in sales and \$300 million in advertising revenue.

Argentina publishes 600 magazines. The economic crisis had a devastating impact on the magazine sector: while in 1998 sales were 200 million units, in 2002 they dropped to 64 million. In 2003, there was a small recovery and magazine sales reached 68 million units. The categories that sell best are general interest, women and home, and sports (see **Table 3**).

The most significant decrease was in the foreign magazine sector. Twenty million foreign magazines were sold in 1997 but in 2001, the recession produced the first drop to 15.2 million. When devaluation caused a triplication in prices, sales fell to 5.6 million. The recovery in 2003 was very small, increasing just to 6 million units.

Table 3. Argentine and Foreign Magazines, by Category, 1995-2003 (million copies)

Category	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003
TOTAL	187	162	195	207	186	162	128	64	68
Total, Argentine Magazines	164	143	172	185	168	145	113	58.4	62
Technical Educational Illustrated Women and Home	5.5 38.3 7.3 25.8	5.0 30.0 9.2 22.2	5.7 29.1 8.2 31.2	6.9 29.7 7.9 38.5	7.7 31.2 8.2 34.5	7.1 25.6 9.8 28.2	5.4 19.2 6.0 23.8	2.1 7.0 2.1 10.6	2.1 7.5 2.0 10.6
Sports Arts and Performance General Interest Others	19.4 12.1 48.1 7.1	18.8 10.4 41.3 5.9	19.5 18.3 53.1 6.5	21.0 15.4 58.2 7.1	19.7 11.9 46.2 8.6	17.4 7.9 40.5 8.4	14.1 6.1 30.6 7.6	9.5 3.9 18.5 4.7	11.2 4.0 19.0 5.6
Total, Foreign Magazines	23.6	19.0	23.0	22.2	18.2	17.1	15.2	5.6	6.0
Source: Argentine Association of Magazine Publishers									

Some companies are beginning to work with a two-pronged strategy of exporting and selling licences. For example, Editorial Perfil exports 5% of its magazines *Noticias, Caras* and *Mía* to foreign markets and sell licences for *Caras* to Brazil and Portugal, where it manages a joint venture with local firms. Another firm, Editorial Atlántida, exports *Para Ti* to Peru, where the magazine is selling with better results than in the Argentine market.

#### **OPPORTUNITIES**

Companies exporting Canadian books in English or French will face two strong

#### challenges:

- the high sales price of foreign-made books in Argentina, given the value of the peso; and
- almost all of the market belongs to U.S., British or French companies in their languages. This dominance is especially significant in the one niche showing constant demand: texts for learning English or French as a second language.

However, Canadian culture is highly valued in Argentina because of the quality and sophistication of Canadian authors and Canada's literary history. A key opportunity to introduce Canadian books to Argentine readers is through participation in the annual Book Fair in Buenos Aires, the most important book fair in South America. The Book Fair, produced by Fundación El Libro, will next be held April 18-May 5, 2005.

There are opportunities for Canadian authors to sell copyrights for translation to some of the big players--e.g. Norma and Emecé--or to smaller publishing houses that remain independent from international corporations such as Interzona, Del Zorzal and Adriana Hidalgo.

Furthermore, it is highly possible to sell books in formats other than paper-based, for content in any category, including second languages. There are many possibilities for Canadian companies that are interested in selling content in the electronic or elearning format. The market value for e-learning was \$24.9 million in 2001 (before the crisis) and is showing a steady and strong recovery; projections see the market reaching \$37.2 million at the end of 2004. Other fields open to opportunities can be found in the public sector (especially in education) but also in private companies (e.g. publishing houses and music recording companies).

The book publishing industry in Argentina has other significant opportunities for Canadian companies. The industry is open to joint ventures with local firms or international groups that work in Argentina. These joint ventures can gain advantages for Canadian exporters, such as lower costs of translation and local editing, and will help Canadians use Argentina to expand Canadian book sales throughout Latin America.

Academic collaborations, educational texts, and books in English-Spanish and French-Spanish also represent opportunities for Canadians.

Argentinians are now starting to shop in the large, bookstore chains. This change in purchasing habits opens opportunities to Canadian companies that provide design and technical support to big stores.

In the newspaper and magazine market, there are no big opportunities, except in selling licences for Canadian material to appear in the local edition of international magazines. The French magazine *Elle*, for example, is published by Clarín Group and *Rolling Stone* (U.S.) is in the newspaper *La Nacion*. Also, opportunities can be found to sell content to existing magazines and newspapers that have sections oriented to specific topics, such as technology, animation, architectural design or lifestyles.

#### Trade Shows

## **Event/Description**

#### 31<sup>st</sup> Buenos Aires International Book Fair

April 13-May 9, 2005 (Annual) La Rural, Predio Ferial de Buenos Aires

#### Organizer

#### Fundación El Libro

Hipolito Yrigoyen 1628, Piso 5 C1089AAF Buenos Aires, Argentina

Tel.: (54-11) 4374-3288 Fax: (54-11) 4375-0268

E-mail: fundacion@el-libro.com.ar

Internet: <a href="http://www.el-libro.com.ar">http://www.el-libro.com.ar</a> (In Spanish)

#### **KEY PARTICIPANTS**

The local publishing and book sectors have suffered a significant change in ownership during the last five years. Twenty publishing houses now dominate the book market—all of them belong to international companies.

The most important players to appear on the Argentine book and publishing scene are the Spanish group Planeta, which owns the local firms Emecé, Tusquets, Minotauro and Paidós, and the German group Bertlesmann (shareholder of Random House, Grijalbo and Mondadori), which bought Sudamericana (the most important national firm during the 1970s and 1980s). Other significant participants are the Spanish Group Prisa (which owns Santillana, Alfaguara, Taurus, Aguilar, Altea and Richmond-Publishing) and Ediciones B, which bought Javier Vergara Editores; the French group Havas (linked to the Group Vivendi), which owns Alianza Editorial, Aique and Larousse; and the Colombian group Norma, which bought Kapelusz.

There are two important niches in the Argentine market: educational and law books. The educational sector is concentrated in four publishers: Kapelusz-Norma, Santillana, Estrada (which belongs to Invest Capital) and Aique. In 2005, the Clarín Group will enter this sector through its new publishing house, Tinta Fresca. In the area of law books and periodicals, there are two key players: Thomson Corporation, (4) which in 1997 bought La Ley (the most important local publisher), and Reed Elsevier, which owns Abeledo Perrot and Depalma.

To aid their recovery from the economic crisis, publishing houses developed a two-pronged strategy: to publish small editions of new releases, and to reprint those titles and authors that offer a safe probability of profitability. During 2003, many small and medium-sized publishers reappeared in the market to print limited-run editions, up to 1000 volumes.

There are also important changes in the bookstore sector. Since the 1990s, big bookstore chains have been built in Argentina. The most important, Yenny-El Ateneo (owned by an Argentine oil group), has 31 bookstores in Argentina. These chains also buy copyrights to books that they print in Argentina for export. Another large player is Fausto, a chain of bookstores owned by Santillana.

To attract sales in the foreign language book sector, Alliance Française, the Goethe Institute and the British Council each have their own cultural centre in Argentina that feature bookstores. Also, Brazil has an educational institute that is quickly growing into an art centre with an audiovisual section and a bookstore. These bookstores attract students and academics as well as the general public.

In the newspaper and magazine sector, the most important player is the multimedia group Clarín. Clarín holds 57% of the total newspaper market, including newspapers sold by Clarín group members in the country's provinces. The second-largest player is La Nacion with a 15% share.

There are two niches in the Argentine newspaper market: sports and business. The sports segment has one dominant player: *Olé*, which belongs to Clarín Group. Business news is divided among three newspapers: *Ambito Financiero*, *Cronista Comercial* (which belongs to the Group Recoletos, linked to the Group Pearson) and *Infobae* (which belongs to the Argentine multimedia group Hadad-Vigil).

The most successful magazines are produced by the Sunday editions of the most important newspapers (such as *Viva*, which belongs to Clarín) and several free magazines produced by cable companies. The two most important players in the magazine market are Editorial Atlántida and Editorial Perfil.

#### PRIVATE- AND PUBLIC-SECTOR CUSTOMERS

Within Argentina, the educational system, which involves both public- and privatesector participation, represents a very important potential client. Items in demand include foreign language books--including English and French as a second language--as well as other educational learning resources and e-learning content and devices.

The private sector could represent a crucial customer for e-learning content, particularly within the education system and corporate training for private companies.

Other potential customers are in the greater Latin American market, through joint ventures with Argentine companies.

Canada and Argentina share three important agreements related to trade and investment: the Canada-Argentina Foreign Investment Protection Agreement (signed in 1991); the Double Taxation Agreement; and the Trade and Investment Co-operation Agreement (TICA, which involves Canada, Argentina and all Mercosur countries). Furthermore, Argentina is also involved in the process for negotiation of the Free Trade Area of the Americas (FTAA).

Canadian publishers should hire a local agent to facilitate sales. In general, Canadians should consider enlisting legal representation when selling foreign rights to their intellectual property. Some independent publishing houses such as Interzona, Del Zorzal and Adriana Hidalgo could perform this role.

#### **KEY CONTACTS AND SUPPORT SERVICES**

#### **Canadian Government Contacts**

# Canadian Embassy in Argentina

Tagle 2828

C1425EEH Buenos Aires, Argentina

Contact: Barbara Brito, Trade

Commissioner

Tel.: (54-11) 4808-1000 Fax: (54-11) 4808-1111

E-mail:

barbara.brito@international.gc.ca

Internet: http://www.dfaitmaeci.gc.ca/argentina

# Business Development Bank of Canada (BDC)

5 Ville Marie Pl., Suite 400 Montreal, QC H3B 5E7

Tel.: (877) 232-2269 Fax: (877) 329-9232 Internet: http://www.bdc.ca

#### **Canada Council for the Arts**

350 Albert St. PO Box 1047

Ottawa, ON K1P 5V8

Tel.: (800) 263-5588 or (613) 566-4414

Fax: (613) 566-4390

Internet: http://www.canadacouncil.ca

# Conseil des Arts et des Lettres du Québec

79 Rene Levesque Blvd. E Quebec, QC G1R 5N5

Tel.: (418) 643-1707 Fax: (418) 643-4598

E-mail: info@calq.gouv.qc.ca Internet: http://www.calq.gouv.qc.ca

#### Foreign Affairs Canada (FAC)

South American Division 125 Sussex Dr.

Ottawa, ON K1A OG2 Contact: Céline Boies, Trade

Commissioner Tel.: (613) 996-5549 Fax: (613) 943-8808

E-mail:

celine.boies@international.gc.ca Internet: http://www.fac-aec.gc.ca

#### International Trade Canada (ITCan)

125 Sussex Dr. Ottawa, ON K1A 0G2

Internet: http://www.itcan-cican.gc.ca

Market Research Division (TMR) Contact: Jennifer Gowan, Senior Canadian Heritage

Book Publishing Industry Development

Program

15 Eddy St., 15-4-D Gatineau, QC K1A 0M5 Tel.: (877) 823-0702

Fax: (819) 997-4169
E-mail: <u>bpidp\_padie@pch.gc.ca</u>
Internet: http://www.pch.gc.ca

Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA)

Industrial Cooperation Program (CIDA

INC)

200 Promenade du Portage Gatineau, QC K1A OG4 Contact: André Leroux Tel.: (819) 997-2064

Fax: (819) 953-5024

E-mail: andre\_leroux@acdi-cida.gc.ca

Internet: <a href="http://www.acdi-cida.gc.ca/inc.htm">http://www.acdi-cida.gc.ca/inc.htm</a>

# International Market Analyst

Tel.: (613) 996-1835 Fax: (613) 943-1103

E-mail:

jennifer.gowan@international.gc.ca

Market Support Division (TMM)

Contact: Valerie Nabb, Deputy Director

Cultural Industries Tel.: (613) 944-7009 Fax: (613) 992-5965

E-mail:

valerie.nabb@international.gc.ca

# **Canadian Industry Contacts**

# Association for the Export of Canadian Books (AECB)

1 Nicholas St., Suite 504 Ottawa, ON K1N 7B7

Contact: Suzanne Bossé, Executive

Director

Tel.: (613) 562-2324 ext. 228 Fax: (613) 562-2329 E-mail: sbosse@aecb.org Internet: http://aecb.org

# Canadian Council for the Americas (CCA)

438 University Ave, Suite 1618

PO Box 60

Toronto, ON M5G 2K8 Tel.: (416) 367-4313 Fax: (416) 595-8226 E-mail: cca@caie.ca

Internet: http://www.ccacanada.com

#### **Quebecor Printing Sudamérica**

Maipú 939, Piso 1

1006 Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel.: (54-11) 4313-7107 or -7196 Fax: (54-11) 4314-6266

E-mail: gtrahan@quebecor-

sudamerica.com.ar

#### **The Thompson Corporation**

Toronto-Dominion Bank Tower 66 Wellington St. W

Toronto, ON MK5 1A1 Tel.: (416) 360-8700 Fax: (416) 360-8812

E-mail: Generalinfo@Thompson.com

# **Argentine Government Contacts**

#### **Embassy of Argentina in Canada**

90 Sparks St., Suite 910 Ottawa, ON K1P 5B4 Tel.: (613) 236-2351 Fax: (613) 235-2659

E-mail: embargentina@argentina-

canada.net

Internet: <a href="http://www.argentina-">http://www.argentina-</a>

canada.net

#### Investment Development Agency (Agencia de Desarrollo de Inversiones [ADI])

Av. Pte. Julio A. Roca 651, Piso 5, Suite

20

1067 Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel.: (54-11) 4349-3442 Fax: (54-11) 4347-9546 E-mail: <u>adi@mecon.gov.ar</u>

Internet: <a href="http://www.inversiones.gov.ar">http://www.inversiones.gov.ar</a>

Consulate General in Montreal 2000 Peel St., Suite 600 Montreal, QC H3A 2W5 Tel.: (514) 842-6582 Fax: (514) 842-5797

E-mail: info@consargenmtl.com Internet: http://www.consargenmtl.com E-mail: info@me.gov.ar

Consulate in Toronto 5001 Yonge St, Suite 201 Toronto, ON M2N 6P6 Tel.: (416) 955-9190 Fax: (416) 955-9293

E-mail: consarg@inforamp.net Internet: http://www.consargtoro.ca Ministry of Education, Science and **Technology** 

Pizzurno 935

C1020ACA Buenos Aires, Argentina

Tel.: (54-11) 4129-1030 Fax: (54-11) 4129-1020

Internet: http://www.me.gov.ar (In

Spanish)

**Secretary of Culture of the Nation** 

Av. Alvear 1690 1014 Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel.: (54-11) 4129-2400

Internet: http://www.cultura.gov.ar (In

Spanish)

# **Argentine Industry Association Contacts**

Argentine Association of Distributors Association of Argentine Importers and Agents of Publishing (Asociacion and Exporters (Asociación de Argentina de Agentes y

Distribuidores de Publicaciones) Reconquista 616, Piso 3 "A" 1003 Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel.: (54-11) 4312-6274

Fax: (54-11) 4312-6291

**Argentine Association of Magazine** Publishers (Asociación Argentina de **Editores de Revistas)** 

Av. Paseo Colón 275, Piso 11 C1063ACC Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel.: (54-11) 4345-0062

E-mail: infoaaer@aaer.com.ar Internet: http://www.editoresrevistas.com.ar (In Spanish)

Argentine Chamber of Books (Cámara Argentina del Libro [CAL]) Av. Belgrano 1580, Piso 4

C1093AAQ Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel.: (54-11) 4381-8383

Fax: (54-11) 4381-9253 E-mail: cal@editores.com

Internet: http://www.editores.org.ar (In

Spanish)

**Argentine Chamber of Commerce** (Cámara Argentina de Comercio)

Leandro N. Alem 36 1003 Buenos Aires, Argentina

Tel.: (54-11) 4331-8051 Fax: (54-11) 4331-8055

Internet: http://www.cac.com.ar

Importadores y Exportadores de la República Argentina) Av. Belgrano 124, Piso 1 1092 Buenos Aires, Argentina

Fax: (54-11) 4342-1312 E-mail: aiera@aiera.org.ar Internet: http://www.airea.org (In

Tel.: (54-11) 4342-0010

Spanish)

**Association of Newspapers Publishers of Buenos Aires** (Asociacion de Editores de Diarios de la Ciudad de Buenos Aires) Carlos Pellegrini 445, Piso 3 A 1009 Buenos Aires, Argentina

Tel./Fax: (54-11) 4322-0899 E-mail: aedba@ciudad.com.ar

Institutes of E-learning and Education **Technology Association of Argentina** (Asociacion de entidades de educacion a distancia y tecnologia educativa de la Republica Argentina) San Martin 683, Piso 1, Of. 37 2do.

Cuerpo

C1004AAM Buenos Aires, Argentina

Contact: Marcelo Menard Tel.: (54-11) 4311-3161 Fax: (54-11) 4312-3963

E-mail: administracion@edutic.org.ar Internet: http://www.edutic.org.ar (In

Spanish)

# Argentine Publishing Houses and Bookstores

Aique Grupo Editor S.A. Valentin Gomez 3530

**Fausto Bookstore** Corrientes 1243

C1191AAP Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel./Fax: (54-11) 4867-7000 E-mail: editorial@aigue.com.ar Internet: http://www.aique.com.ar (In

Spanish)

Adriana Hidalgo

Carlos Pellegrini 755 1009 Buenos Aires, Argentina Contact: Adriana Hidalgo Tel./Fax: (54-11) 4322-6215

Internet:

http://www.adrianahidalgo.com (In

Spanish)

**Editorial Astrea (Abeledo Perrot-De** Palma)

Lavalle 1208

C1048AAF Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel./Fax: (54-11) 4382-1880 E-mail: info@astrea.com.ar Internet: http://www.astrea.com.ar

**Editorial Estrada** 

Bolivar 462

1066 Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel.: (54-11) 4344-5500 Fax: (54-11) 4331-6527 E-mail: info@estrada.com.ar Internet: http://www.estrada.com.ar (In Rodriguez Peña 2067

Spanish)

Editorial Paidós Argentina S.A.I.C.F

Defensa 599, Piso 1

C1065AAI, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Contact: Raúl Illescas Tel.: (54-11) 4331-2275 Fax: (54-11) 4343-0954

E-mail:

editorial@paidosargentina.com.ar

http://www.paidosargentina.com.ar (In

Spanish)

**Editorial Sudamericana** 

Humberto Primo 555 Buenos Aires, Argentina Contact: Anna Maria Muchnik Tel./Fax: (54-11) 5235-4400

E-mail:

amuchnik@edsudamericana.com.ar

Internet:

http:/www.edsudamericana.com.ar (In

Spanish)

Kapelusz-Norma

San Jose 831 C1076AAQ Buenos Aires, Argentina

Contact: Leonora Djament Tel.: (54-11) 5236-5000 Fax: (54-11) 5236-5005

E-mail: tcastillo@kapelusz.com.ar Internet: http://www.kapelusz.com.ar Buenos Aires, Argentina

Contact: Susana Fernandez, Public

**Relations Manager** 

Tel./Fax: (54-11) 4864-3336 E-mail: susana@cuspide.com Internet: http://www.fausto.com (In

Spanish)

Grupo Editorial Planeta S.A.I.C.

(Emecé)

Independencia 1668 Buenos Aires, Argentina Contact: Mercedes Güiraldes Tel./Fax: (54-11) 4381-1244

E-mail: info@editorialplaneta.com.ar

Internet:

http://www.editorialplaneta.com.ar (In

Spanish)

**Grupo Santillana Argentina** 

Leandro N. Alem 720 1001 Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel./Fax: (54-11) 4119-5000

E-mail: webmaster@santillana.com.ar Internet: http://www.santillana.com.ar

(In Spanish)

**Guillermo Schavelzon Agencia** Literaria

1021 Buenos Aires, Argentina Contact: Mónica Herrero Tel.: (5411) 4813-8420

Fax: (5411) 4813-2876

E-mail: guillermo@schavelzon.com

**International Editors** 

Avda. Cabildo, 1156 1º A 1426 Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel./Fax (54-11) 4786-0888 E-mail: escritores@lvd.com.ar

Interzona

Lavalle 750, Piso 19, Of. B C1047AAP Buenos Aires, Argentina

Contac: Damián Ríos Tel./Fax: (54-11) 4326-2403

E-mail:

salomon@interzonaeditora.com

Internet:

http://www.interzonaeditora.com (In

Spanish)

Yenny-El Ateneo Bookstore

Patagones 2463

Buenos Aires, Argentina

Contact: Antonio Dalto, Commercial

Manager

Tel./Fax: (54-11) 4943-8200 E-mail: info@yenny.com.ar

Internet: http://www.yenny.com.ar (In

Spanish)

La Ley

Tucuman 1471 C1050AAC Buenos Aires, Argentina

Tel.: (54-11) 4378-4841 Fax: (54-11) 4372-0953 E-mail: info@laley.com.ar

Internet: http://www.la-ley.com.ar (In

Spanish)

#### **Del Zorzal**

Tucuman 3350, Piso 1 N 1009 Buenos Aires, Argentina Contact: Leopoldo Kuletz Tel./Fax: (54-11) 4864-4150

Internet: http://www.delzorzal.com.ar

(In Spanish)

## **Argentine Newspapers**

#### **Ambito Financiero Newspaper**

Paseo Colon 1196 C1063ACY Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel.: (54-11) 4349-1500

Internet: http://www.ambitoweb.com

(In Spanish)

# Clarín Newspaper

Tacuari 1842 C1139AAN Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel.: (54-11) 4309-7500

Internet: http://www.clarin.com.ar (In

Spanish)

#### Diario Deportivo Olé

Tacuari 1842

C1139AAN Buenos Aires, Argentina

Contact:María Cloux Tel/Fax.: (54-11) 4309-7500 E-mail: mcloux@clarin.com.ar Internet: http://www.ole.clarin.com.ar

(in Spanish)

#### La Nacion Newspaper

Bouchard 557 C1106ABG, Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel.: (54-11) 4319-1600

Internet: http://www.lanacion.com.ar

(In Spanish)

#### **Cronista Comercial**

Paseo Colon 740 Piso 1 1408 Buenos Aires, Argentina Tel:(54-11) 4338-3088

Internet: http://www.cronista.com

#### Infobae

Contact: Carlos Nougués

Internet: http://www.infobae.com.ar

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Argentina. Secretary of Culture of the Nation. *Industrias Culturales: mercado y políticas públicas en Argentina*. [Cultural Industries: Market and Public Policies in Argentina.] May 2003.

Bustamante, Enrique. *Hacia un nuevo sistema de comunicación mundial. Las industrias culturales en la era digital.* [Towards a New Worldwide Communication System: Cultural Industries in the Digital Era.] February 2003.

Center of Studies for the Metropolitan Economic Development (CEDEM). *Industrias Culturales. Informe 2003.* [Cultural Industries. 2003 Survey.] January 2004.

Cronista Comercial. "Los argentinos vuelven a divertirse." ["Argentine People Come Back to Entertainment."] July 2004.

Cultural Industry Observatory of the City of Buenos Aires. *Las industrias culturales en la Argentina: los 90 y la escena post devaluación.* [Cultural Industries in Argentina: the 90's and the scene post-devaluation.] August 2004.

Getino, Octavio. *Las industrias culturales en el Mercosur*. [Cultural Industries in the MERCOSUR.] December 2003.

#### **USEFUL INTERNET SITES**

Argentina Business (Fundación Invertir): http://www.invertir.com

Canadian Heritage. Trade Routes: http://www.canadianheritage.gc.ca/routes

Chamber of Books: http://www.editores.org.ar (In Spanish)

Cultural Industry Observatory of the City of Buenos Aires: <a href="http://www.buenosaires.gov.ar/areas/cultura/observatorio">http://www.buenosaires.gov.ar/areas/cultura/observatorio</a> (In Spanish)

ExportSource: http://www.exportsource.ca

Foreign Affairs Canada (FAC): http://www.fac-aec.gc.ca

FAC. Latin America and Caribbean Bureau: <a href="http://www.dfait-maeci.gc.ca/latinamerica">http://www.dfait-maeci.gc.ca/latinamerica</a>

InfoExport: http://www.infoexport.gc.ca

International Trade Canada (ITCan): http://www.itcan-cican.gc.ca

Regional Centre for Book Promotion in Latin America and the Caribbean (Centro Regional para el Fomento del Libro en América Latina y el Caribe [CERLALC]): <a href="http://www.cerlalc.org">http://www.cerlalc.org</a> (In Spanish)

- 1. The production of this profile was commissioned by the Department of Canadian Heritage, Trade Routes program and prepared with the collaboration of the Canadian Embassy in Argentina. The opinions expressed are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the view of the Government of Canada. Readers should take note that the Government of Canada does not guarantee the accuracy of any of the information contained in this report, nor does it necessarily endorse the organizations listed herein. Readers should independently verify the accuracy and reliability of the information.
- <sup>2.</sup> All monetary units are expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated. The conversion rate to Canadian dollars is based on IDD Information Services, Tradeline, December 2003.
- 3. Secondary sources, because neither the Chamber of Books nor the companies provide this kind of information.
- <sup>4.</sup> Thomson represents the only case in which Canadian capital is involved in the Argentine book and publishing market.

Our Offices in Canada | Our Offices Abroad

Last Updated: 2006/05/24

Top of Page

Important Notices